



EU RESEARCH ON SOCIAL SCIENCES AND HUMANITIES

Family life and Professional Work: Conflict and Synergy (FamWork)

Household labour, work-family linkages, and family life: A State of the Art Report

Interested in European research?

RTD info is our quarterly magazine keeping you in touch with main developments (results, programmes, events, etc.). It is available in English, French and German. A free sample copy or free subscription can be obtained from:

European Commission Directorate-General for Research Information and Communication Unit B-1049 Brussels Fax (32-2) 29-58220 E-mail: research@cec.eu.int

Internet: http://europa.eu.int/comm/research/rtdinfo/index_en.html

EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Directorate-General for Research
Directorate Social sciences and humanities; foresight
Unit K.1. - Political and strategic aspects

E-mail: rtd-citizen@cec.eu.int

EU RESEARCH ON SOCIAL SCIENCES AND HUMANITIES

Family Life and Professional Work: Conflict and Synergy (FamWork)

Household labour, work-family linkages, and family life: **A State of the Art Report**

Project HPSE-CT2002-000147
Funded under the Key Action "Improving the Socio-Economic Knowledge Base" of FP5
DG Research

Report issued in January 2004

Coordinator of project:
Ludwig Maximilians Universität München
Department Psychology
München, Germany
Klaus A. SCHNEEWIND

Partners:

University of Fribourg, Department of Psychology, Suisse, Meinrad Perrez

Karl-Franzens-Universitaet Graz, Institut fuer Psychologie, Austria Gerold Mikula

Catholic University of Nijmegen, Faculty of Social Sciences, The Netherlands, Jan Gerris

University of Porto, Centro de Psicologia, Portugal,

Anne-Marie Fontaine

Université de Mons, Hainaut, Belgium

Jean-Pierre Pourtois

Università degli Studik di Palermo, Department of Psychology, Italy Angela Maria Di Vita

Directorate-General for Research
Citizen and governance in a Knowledge-based society

EUROPEAN COMMISSION

RESEARCH

Directorate-General for Research

Director General: Achilleas Mitsos

The Directorate-General for Research is responsible for implementing EU level policies and activities in view of the development of the European Research Area. It initiates and implements the necessary Community actions, in particular the RTD Framework Programmes in terms of research and technological development. It also contributes to the implementation of the "Lisbon Strategy" regarding employment, competitiveness at international level, economic reform and social cohesion within the European Union.

The Directorate " Social Sciences and Humanities; Foresight" Directorate K, addresses key societal, economic and S&T challenges for Europe. It identifies and analyses major trends in relation to these challenges and examines them in the light of the principal EU strategic objectives and sectoral policies. The overall context for its work is the transition towards the knowledge based economy and society in Europe.

Within this overall framework, the Directorate provides a policy relevant research based capability executed through the promotion and management of research activities in the areas of social sciences, humanities and foresight, the exploitation of their results and its own analyses. In this way, the Directorate offers knowledge for policies (including RTD policies) while supporting the formulation of policies for knowledge.

Scientific Officer: Virginia Vitorino

Virginia.Vitorino@cec.eu.int

http://www.cordis.lu/fp6/citizens.htm, for information on Priority 7 – 'Citizens and Governance in a Knowledge Based Society' under the 6th Framework Programme.

http://improving-ser.jrc.it/default/, the database of socio-economic projects funded under the 4th and 5th Framework Programme.

http://europa.eu.int/comm/research/social-sciences/index_en.html Social sciences and humanities in Europa

Europe Direct is a service to help you find answers to your questions about the European Union

Freephone number: 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11

LEGAL NOTICE

Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use which might be made of the following information.

The views expressed in this publication are the sole responsibility of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Commission.

A great deal of additional information on the European Union is available on the Internet. It can be accessed through the Europa server (http://europa.eu.int).

Cataloguing data can be found at the end of this publication.

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2004

© European Communities, 2004

Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

Printed in Belgium

PRINTED ON WHITE CHLORINE-FREE PAPER

Foreword

Under the Fifth Framework Programme of the European Union for Research and Technological Development (RTD), the Key Action "Improving the socio-economic knowledge base" set broad and ambitious objectives: first, to improve our understanding of the structural changes taking place in European society, second, to identify ways of managing these changes and to promote the active involvement of European citizens in shaping their own futures.

A further important aim was to mobilise the research communities in the social sciences and humanities at the European level and to provide scientific support to policies at various levels, with particular attention to EU policy fields.

Since the launch of the Key Action in 1999 more than 1600 research teams coming from 38 countries have been mobilised. Although most important collaborative efforts are undertaken at the EU level, the participation of new Member States is already considerable with 189 teams out of 1676 teams coming from these countries.

Socio-economic research requires an effective dissemination strategy and the development of such a strategy is a top priority. It should be recognised that there is a broad range of potential users of this type of research apart from the research community, policy makers at various levels and civil society, the citizens of Europe constitute an integral target group.

Different users require different types and levels of information with respect to the results arising out of EU socio-economic research. While the research community may be interested in "raw" results of many of the +/ 200 research projects supported to date, some other users require more analytical information. The latter audience is targeted by our Publication Series at the level of State of the Art Reports. These represent reports normally produced by the Projects in their first year of implementation and they reflect the current state of the art of the specific topic of research to be dealt by each individual project.

The present report was prepared in the frame of the project "Family Life and Professional Work: Conflict and Synergy (FamWork), funded by the Third Call of the Key Action "Improving the Socio-economic Knowledge Base".

Contents

1. Global societal changes and their impact on the contemporary family	2
1.1 Cultural values and household labour	3
1.2 Participation of mothers in the labour force	4
1.3 Gender and household labour	5
2. Evaluation of the division of family labour	7
3. Work-family linkages	10
3.1 Work-family conflict	11
3.2 Work-family linkages: Direct or indirect effects?	13
3.3 Work-family linkages: Gender differences?	13
3.4 Work-family linkages: The role of personality as mediator/moderator	14
3.5 Marital relationships and work-family linkages	16
3.6 Work-family linkages and coping: Individual strategies and supportive structures	17
4. Theoretical and methodological developments	19
4.1 Theoretical developments: The quest for comprehensive models	19
4.2 Methodological developments: New assessment tools and data-analytic strategies	21
5. Conclusions	23
References	25

1. Global societal changes and their impact on the contemporary family

Although family life continues to be highly valued in most societies there is ample evidence that, particularly in Western countries, the family as a social institution has undergone profound changes over the last three or four decades. From a post-modernist point of view these changes can be attributed to societal trends such as increasing amounts of crises, break-ups and disorders which go along with a value system stressing contest, excellence and performance to promote economic development in a globalized and quickly changing world (Pourtois & Desmet, 2002; Sennett, 1998). Within this context, the family is undergoing a fourfold crisis: i.e., a crisis of relationship, meaning, power and values (Pourtois & Desmet, 2000a). Consequently, adults and children are subject to a variety of tensions they have to cope with. Thus, in a global perspective, the question about the compatibility of family and work has to be asked in a more complex way including

- (a) a new conception of marriage (or other forms of couple relationships) which is based on affection and, in principle, serves the function of continually negotiating the delicate balance of personal autonomy and dyadic relatedness (de Singly, 2000a, 2000b; Giddens, 1992);
- (b) a new meaning of parenthood emphasizing democratic, liberal and egalitarian parent-child relationships (Fize, 1991; Pourtois & Desmet, 2000a, 2003) with corresponding consequences for children's identity formation and personality development (de Singly, 2002a; Purtois & Desmet, 2000b);
- (c) a new image of the family resting on pluralistic family reality and diversity (Théry, 2001) where common models of family life co-exist with new, innovative family patterns (Caillé, 2003).

Against the backdrop of this more general picture of societal change in Western countries it should be recognized that families are embedded in particular cultural contexts and their corresponding value systems. In addition, two major societal changes are particularly important with respect to the division of paid work and domestic labour, i.e., women's increased participation in the labour force and changing gender role ideologies. In the following these aspects will be elaborated in some detail, particularly with respect to the division of domestic labour in families.

1.1 Cultural values and household labour

Cultural values are standards for what are considered to be good or right ways of being and acting in each society. They include cognitive structures, behavioural and affective dimensions, play a major role in the establishment of personal goals and constitute the basis for self and others evaluation (Rokeach, 1973, cited in Brown, 2002). Concordance between personal decisions, cultural customs and value systems facilitates adaptation to life transitions (Feldman, Marshala & Nadham, 2001). If values influence family relations, the reverse is also true. As far as the division of household labour is concerned, several researchers have found that it reflects and perpetuates cultural understandings of family and it structures gender and class relations (Coltrane, 2000).

Several categories of values can be taken into account, each one with a different prevalence in different cultural groups. Social values such as individualism and familism and modernism/traditionalism are deemed to be particularly important for the purpose of comparing different societes. In general, individuals who hold familism values tend to engage in behaviours and make decisions congruent to family opinions, tend to fulfil the social and family prescribed roles and adjust to family needs; individuals with high individualism values emphasize the ideals of individual liberty and equality, tend to act accordingly to personal choice and feel responsible for one's choices (Raeff, 1997).

It is possible to draw a parallel between individualism/familism values and modernism/traditionalism values, as suggested by Triandis, McCusker and Lui (1990). Using Schwartz values (see Schwartz & Bilsky, 1987), they suggested that in more collectivistic cultures, values promoting the welfare of the group will be emphasized (i.e., family security, honouring elders, etc.). In individualistic societies values promoting individual goals (i.e., exciting life, independent, daring, etc.) would be more prevalent. Beside the overlap between these two groups of values and modernism/traditionalism values the meaning of the constructs must be carefully explored. For example, Fontaine and Matias (2003) found that familism represents two distinct dimensions: patriarchal power and familiar solidarity and support. While the former can be related to traditionalism values, the latter does not present such a clear association. In fact, individuals either with traditional or modern values agreed with the statements referring support (financial and emotional) towards family members. Indeed, this dimension seems very consensual, as it is upheld by most people. Moreover, a study carried out in 1996 in some European countries (France, Germany, It-

aly, Spain and United Kingdom) found that, for most people, the meaning of family values did not imply a traditional family structure or moral and abstract values. Rather, it was explained by support, mutual help and emotional caring within family members (Vicente, 1998).

In most studies, egalitarianism (Apparala, Reifman & Munsch, 2003; Coltrane, 2000) is considered to be a mediating variable between the previous values and household labour division. More modern and individualistic values hold for more egalitarian values (Raeff, 1997) and more traditional values hold for less egalitarian ones (Apparala et al., 2003). Thus, when men or women hold more traditional beliefs and attitudes, a lesser sharing of the housework is expected. On the other hand, more liberal and "non-traditional" attitudes and consequently, egalitarian beliefs, relate to men's greater contribution in household labour (Apparala et al. 2003; Coltrane & Ishii-Kuntz, 1992; Coltrane, 2000). In fact, assessed at a country level, individualism was significantly and positively associated with the country's level of egalitarianism (Apparala et al., 2003) perhaps because individualism assumes that people feel responsible for their own actions.

More egalitarian attitudes are also more likely to be endorsed by individuals who are younger, highly educated, have an employed spouse and hold liberal political attitudes (Apparala et al., 2003). Concerning gender differences, the stronger predictor of egalitarianism for men is marital status while for women it is social class. Finally, it was also found that in half of the studied countries, women held significantly more egalitarian attitudes than did men (Apparala et al., 2003). Poeschl (2000) arrived at the same conclusion with a Portuguese sample.

In summary, traditional and familism values, related to patriarchal power, are associated to less egalitarian values and consequently to a minor sharing of household labour. More modern and individualistic values are associated with more egalitarian attitudes and therefore to a greater sharing of household labour.

1.2 Participation of mothers in the labour force

During the last decades the mothers' participation in the labour force has distinctly increased in Western Europe, the United States and other developed countries (United Nations, 1995). Nevertheless, pronounced differences can be seen between the countries of the European Union. While, for example, in Portugal 72% of the mothers are integrated in the labour force, the percentage for Italy is only 45,7%. Within one country, differences

show up when the number of children under 5 years is taken into account: In Portugal, for example, the high percentages of working mothers with one or two children (73,3% and 71,3%) contrasts with the clearly lower rates for mothers with three or more children (47,4%). Within other countries like the Netherlands, these differences are less distinct, but still significant, i.e., 61,9% and 57,1% for mothers with one or two children compared to 49,4% for mothers with three or more children (Europäische Kommission, 2000).

As the participation of fathers in the labour force, all in all, has not undergone any major societal changes, the number of dual-income couples with pre-school children has pronouncedly increased along with the changes in mothers' labour participation (Franco & Winquist, 2002). This leads to the importance of gender roles in the analysis of sharing domestic labour among working parents.

1.3 Gender and household labour

As far as the gendered division of household labour is concerned, research to date can be summarized as follows:

- (1) Women do substantially more housework than men, and this is especially true for married men and women. It is still taken for granted, as an implicit element of the marriage contract, that women take primary responsibility for domestic work (see Coltrane, 2000; Kluwer & Mikula, 2002, Shelton & John, 1996, for reviews).
- (2) Married women's movement into paid employment has not been accompanied by an equivalent increase in the amount of housework done by husbands. Being viewed as secondary breadwinners means that it is women who must make adjustments in order to balance paid and unpaid domestic work (Jackson, 1997; Cancian & Oliker, 2000). Although there has been an increase in fathers' childcare hours, it is not enough to make up the difference (Perista, 2002).
- (3) Not only do women perform significantly more housework, but they also perform different types of household tasks. Women tend to perform chores that take place inside home, are routine, absorbing and closely associated with childcare (Presser, 1994; Blair & Lichter, 1991; Perista, 2002). Traditional male tasks tend to have a well-defined beginning and end, are more likely to take place outside the home, offer discretion as to when the task is performed, and may be experienced as leisure (Blair & Lichter, 1991; Shelton, 1992). Driving, paying bills, and shopping have been termed "gender neutral" tasks and tend to be shared more equally (Perista, 2002; Coltrane, 2000). In this context it should be noted that

conventional measures of housework miss some important domains of domestic labour that, as qualitative studies suggest, are more commonly performed by women. Two specific kinds of such work have been termed "emotion work" and "kin work". The first tends to involve the enhancement of others' emotional well-being and provision of emotional support. The latter, sometimes also termed "kin keeping" is usually defined as the work required to sustain ties with relatives and caring for them.

- (4) Although most adults agree on a highly egalitarian division of household chores and child-care activities (e.g., DeStefano & Colastano, 1990; Schneewind et al., 1992; Schneewind et al., 1997) there seems to be a shift towards a more traditional division after the transition to parenthood. Despite the fact that young parents usually maintain their ideal of equal sharing of responsibilities, the actual division of family work often shows a very different picture: while the fathers reduce their contribution quite substantially, the young mothers take on the bulk of household and child care activities (Jacobs, DeMaeyer & Beck, 1999; Nomaguchi & Milkie, 2003). Longitudinal studies show that this "traditionalization effect" seems to prevail to a large extent even when the mothers resume their previous work (e.g., Schneewind et al., 1992; Schneewind et al., 1997). The shift towards a more traditional division of family and provider responsibilities is additionally reflected by evidence showing that fathers increase their effort for professional work after transition to parenthood, while mothers typically decrease their effort (Franco & Winquist, 2002).
- (5) Based on an overview of different theoretical explanations for the imbalanced distribution of family work (e.g., Coltrane, 2000; Kluwer & Mikula, 2002; Mikula, 1998) the most consistent findings can be summarized as follows: The division of labour tends to be more unequal (a) when gender differences in outside employment and income are larger (Alvarez & Miles, 2003); (Arrighi & Maume, 2000); (Batalova & Cohen, 2002); (Bianchi et al., 2000); (Davies & Carrier, 1999); (Helms-Erikson, 2001), (b) when the normative climate in the social environment prescribes a sex-typed allocation of work (Kulik & Rayyan, 2003); (Lavee & Katz, 2002)), (c) when spouses have more traditional gender role ideologies (Arrighi & Maume, 2000); (Batalova & Cohen, 2002); (Bianchi et al., 2000); (Buunk, Kluwer, Schuurman, & Siero, 2000); (Helms-Erikson, 2001); (Lavee & Katz, 2002)), and (d) when couples have children at a younger age (Bianchi et al., 2000); (Kentges-Kirschbaum & Petzold, 1995)). Ultimately, however, gender explains the largest amount of variance in individual contributions to family work (Alvarez & Miles, 2003); (Batalova & Cohen, 2002); (Davies & Carrier, 1999); (Lavee & Katz, 2002); for a review see (Coltrane, 2000).

Why does gender remain the most important predictor of housework time? To answer this question, researchers are increasingly drawing on the "doing gender" perspective. This framework argues that domestic labour is a symbolic enactment of gender relations, not a rational choice due to time availability, to the maximization of efficiency, or the conversion of external resources into the exercise of power in the home (Coltrane, 2000). Cunningham (2001) incorporates socialization into a "doing gender" approach. Upon adulthood, children may draw on gendered models of housework performance to organize and justify their own behaviour. Examining forerunners of change in non-traditional gender ideology (men and women who are much less traditional than their parents' generation and their own generation), Myers and Booth (2002) found that, although family of origin influences exert moderating effects on both sons and daughters, contemporary experiences are more important to daughters' gender attitudes. The rapid societal change in the field of women's roles has reduced the early influence of the family of origin. Also, current sex role allocations afford advantages which are large enough to make men resist changes in attitudes and behaviours, allowing them to adhere more rigidly to the teachings of their youth. These effects help to clarify why men's gender ideologies have been slower to change than women's and why this pattern is likely to continue.

Notwithstanding the theoretical explanations and empirical findings that have been offered to better understand the issue of gendered sharing of domestic work, it is important to study in greater detail how men and women evaluate the modalities of division of family labour that they practice in their every day life. The next section will take a closer look on this topic and present an overview on corresponding research findings.

2. Evaluation of the division of family labour

The majority of studies of the division of family labour focused on the analysis of gender-related inequalities and the exploration of possible causes of inequality, usually from a sociological perspective. Much less is known about the perceptions, evaluations, and consequences of gender-related inequality in close relationships.

But it is reasonable to assume that the division of family labour and its evaluations in particular, will have important consequences for the relationship between the wife and husband and for the personal well-being of men and women (Baxter, 2000); (Kirchler & Venus, 2000); (Stevens, Kiger, & Riley, 2001); (Van Willigen & Drentea, 2001); for a

review see (Coltrane, 2000). The experience of injustice, or lack of satisfaction with the actual division of labour will have negative implications. Interestingly, only a minority of respondents regards the division of labour as unfair (e.g., (Baxter, 2000); (Blair & Johnson, 1992); (Blair, 1993); (Buber, 2002); (Coltrane, 2000); (DeMaris & Longmore, 1996); (Demo & Acock, 1993); (Kirchler & Venus, 2000); (Lennon & Rosenfield, 1994); (Mikula, Freudenthaler, Schröpfer, & Schmelzer-Ziringer R., 1996); (Mikula, Freudenthaler, Brennacher-Kröll, & Brunschko, 1997); (Mikula, 1998); (Mikula & Freudenthaler, 2002); (Spitze, 1988); (Ward, 1993). The lack of perceived injustice among women has stimulated research to identify determinants of perceptions of (in)justice regarding the division of family work. One popular explanatory model for the lack of perceived injustice among women is the distributive justice framework (Thompson, 1991); (Major, 1993)). This theoretical model claims that women do not perceive the unequal division of labour as unfair because it does not violate their sense of entitlement. The model assumes that cognitions about the division of family work are important for the evaluation of entitlement, and (in)justice in this area. It argues that the evaluation of justice is affected by peoples' wants and values, comparison standards and justifications.

Mikula (1998) reviewed relevant empirical studies and grouped the variables which have been considered as possible determinants of perceptions of (in)justice into four categories: work load and division of labour, characteristics of the social system, individual differences and cognitions. The empirical evidence for each of the four groups of variables can be summarised as follows:

Work load and division of labour. Measures of men's and women's employment hours outside the home show low or insignificant correlations with justice perceptions (e.g., (Baxter, 2000); (Blair & Johnson, 1992); (DeMaris & Longmore, 1996); (Demo & Acock, 1993); (Greenstein, 1996b); (John, Shelton, & Luschen, 1995); (Kirchler & Venus, 2000); (Lennon & Rosenfield, 1994); (Mikula & Freudenthaler, 1999). Measures of the division of family work are more consistently correlated with perceptions of (in)justice. Generally speaking, unbalanced divisions of labour are regarded as less fair than balanced divisions (e.g., (Buunk et al., 2000); (Kirchler & Venus, 2000); for a review see (Coltrane, 2000). Absolute measures, such as the hours spent doing family work, are less predictive of justice perceptions than the relative amount of men's and women's contributions to family work (e.g., (DeMaris & Longmore, 1996); (Hawkins, Marshall, & Meiners, 1995); (John et al., 1995); (Kirchler & Venus, 2000); (Sanchez, 1994). In addition, the amount of men's contribution to family work shows higher correlations with perceived justice than the

amount of women's contributions (e.g., (Baxter, 2000); (Demo & Acock, 1993); (John et al., 1995); (Sanchez, 1994) and contributions to female-type tasks (e.g., cooking, cleaning) are better predictors of perceived justice than contributions to other tasks or global measures of domestic labour (e.g., (Baxter, 2000); (Benin & Agostinelli, 1988); (Blair & Johnson, 1992); (John et al., 1995); (Lennon & Rosenfield, 1994); (Perry-Jenkins & Folk, 1994); for a review see (Coltrane, 2000).

System characteristics. Few studies focused on the characteristics of the family and household system. They found women with outside employment to perceive the division of family work as less fair than housewives (e.g., (Mikula & Freudenthaler, 1999). Marital status and the number of children, as well as individuals' earnings seem to be uncorrelated with justice perceptions (e.g., (DeMaris & Longmore, 1996); (John et al., 1995); (Kirchler & Venus, 2000); (Lennon & Rosenfield, 1994); (Mikula & Freudenthaler, 1999); (Ward, 1993); for a review see (Coltrane, 2000).

Individual differences. Women generally perceive the division of family labour as less fair then men (e.g., (Baxter, 2000); (Blair, 1993); (DeMaris & Longmore, 1996); (John et al., 1995); (Kirchler & Venus, 2000); (Lennon & Rosenfield, 1994); Mikula & Freudenthaler, 1999; (Robinson & Spitze, 1992); (Sanchez, 1994); (Ward, 1993). In addition, younger, more educated, and white people typically perceive the division of work as less fair than older, less educated and non-white people (e.g., (Baxter, 2000); (DeMaris & Longmore, 1996); (Hawkins et al., 1995); (John et al., 1995); (Lavee & Katz, 2002); (Lennon & Rosenfield, 1994); (Sanchez, 1994); (Ward, 1993); for a review see (Coltrane, 2000). The evidence for correlation between gender ideology and perceptions of justice is mixed. Some studies found significant but weak and inconsistent support for the prediction that people with egalitarian ideologies evaluate the unbalanced division of family work as more unfair than those with traditional ideologies (e.g., (Blair & Johnson, 1992); (DeMaris & Longmore, 1996); (John et al., 1995); (Greenstein, 1996a); (Mikula et al., 1997). Other studies reported no significant correlations (e.g., (Lennon & Rosenfield, 1994); (Mederer, 1993); (Ward, 1993).

Cognitions. Cognitions about the division of family labour, such as appraisals, attributions, comparative judgements and justifications turned out to be the best predictors of justice evaluations (for a review see (Coltrane, 2000). The following cognitions have been considered in various studies: perceived appreciation of one's work ((Blair & Johnson, 1992); (Hawkins et al., 1995); (Mikula et al., 1996)), discrepancies between actual and desired division of labour ((Kirchler & Venus, 2000)), comparison outcomes

(Freudenthaler & Mikula, 1998); (Mikula, Freudenthaler, Hoertner, & Foufas, 2001); (Mikula, Hörtner, & Foufas, 2001); (Mikula & Freudenthaler, 2002)) as well as procedural justice ((Hawkins et al., 1995)).

Moderator and mediator effects on the relationship between the division of labour and its evaluation and the relationship between perceived injustice, personal well-being, and relationship quality, received only little attention aside from a few exceptions ((Greenstein, 1996a); (Blair & Johnson, 1992); (Mikula et al., 1997); (John et al., 1995); (Sanchez, 1994); (Ward, 1993); (Perry-Jenkins & Folk, 1994); (Robinson & Spitze, 1992); (Reichle & Montada, 1994); (Reichle, 1996); (Lavee & Katz, 2002); (Voydanoff & Donnelly, 1999); (Wilkie, Ferree, & Ratcliff, 1998); (Pina & Bengtson, 1993)). To compensate the lack of studies in this area, the analyses of justice perceptions as a moderator and/or mediator are highly warranted.

While a series of studies corroborated the hypothesis that the amount of perceived justice and fairness in sharing domestic work seems to affect the well-being of couples on the individual and relationship level, another line of research addressed the question to what extent different kinds of arrangements and experiences concerning the partners' gainful employment are related to personal well-being and the quality of family life. As has already been pointed out, this issue is particularly important in view of a growing number of so-called dual earner or dual career families. The next section provides an overview of what is known so far about the determinants and impact of different kinds of work-family linkages.

3. Work-family linkages

Over the last years the interface of work and family life has attracted a considerable amount of research (Frone, 2003). In particular, the issue of work-family linkages has been elaborated on conceptual, theoretical and methodological grounds. On the conceptual level, different ways of how family and work experiences influence each other have been distinguished taking into account that "workers' everyday experiences tell us that work and family can benefit each other, and compelling evidence suggests that work-family conflict is distinct from positive spillover or family-work enhancement" (Gryzwacz & Bass, 2003, p. 248).

Empirical work on which combination of work-family linkages contributes most to an optimal balance of work and family life with respect to positive outcomes on the individual, family and work levels is still lacking. However, preliminary research suggests that a well-balanced role system which incorporates all roles (i.e., marital, parental and work roles) without too much friction results in higher levels of well-being (Marks & MacDermid, 1996). In fact, creating and shaping ones life in view of prevalent responsibilities in different life domains within the context of available opportunity structures can be conceived as a major life task of working partners and parents. Starting with a closer look at work-family conflict this section focuses on an overview of research findings pertaining to the field of work-family linkages and their outcomes.

3.1 Work-family conflict

The topic of work-family conflict is of particular interest due to the radical changes of work and family responsibilities. Both American (e.g., Frone, Russell & Cooper, 1992a) and European (e.g., Kinnunen & Mauno, 1998) studies indicate that some 40% to even 78% of employed parents experience work-family conflict at least sometimes. Problems in balancing work-family interface have most often been studied among employed women, because women are still primarily responsible for the home and children and therefore they have to balance the demands arising from family and work roles.

Cross-sectional research provides consistent evidence that work-family conflict is associated with various negative work-, family- and stress-related outcomes (see Allen, Herts, Bruck & Sutton, 2000). Frone (2000) has shown that, depending on the type of work-family conflict and type of disorder, employees often experiencing work-family conflict were about 2-30 times more likely than were employees who reported no work-family conflict, to experience a clinically significant mental health problem. Also, longitudinal studies have indicated that work-family conflicts predict adverse health outcomes (Frone, Russell & Cooper, 1997) and stress as well as intentions to leave the organization. Consequently, previous studies have so far concentrated on demonstrating the main effects of work-family conflict on well-being and shown that work-family issues are important research targets from the view points of the well-being of individuals, families as well as organizations.

Work-family conflict has been defined as a form of inter-role conflict in which the role pressures from the work and family domains are mutually incompatible (Greenhaus &

Beutell, 1985). This definition of work-family conflict implies a bidirectional relation between work and family life. In other words, conflicts may originate in either domain. Recently, researchers have begun to focus on this distinction about the direction of the work and family interference (i.e., work interfering with family and family interfering with work). Although these two forms of conflict – work interference with family (WIF) and family interference with work (FIW) – are strongly correlated with each other (Frone, Russell & Cooper, 1992a, 1992b; Gutek, Searle & Klepa, 1991; Kinnunen & Mauno, 1998), individuals typically report more WIF than FIW. According to Gutek et al. (1991), this may be due to the fact that work demands are easier to quantify, but it also may be that employees' evaluations are coloured by expectations concerning the characteristics of a good employee: a good employee is not supposed to think about family matters at work and thus let them disturb her or his working, but a good employee may think about work matters at home and thus let them interfere with his or her family life. Therefore, as Frone et al. (1992b) have stated, work and family boundaries are asymmetrically permeable.

Another distinction which has been made is a tripartite classification of the types of work and family conflict (Greenhaus & Beutell, 1985). Time-based conflict is experienced when time pressures associated with one role prevent one from fulfilling the expectations of the other role. Strain-based conflict is experienced when strain or fatigue in one role affects performance in the other. Behaviour-based conflict occurs when specific behaviours required in one role are incompatible with behaviour expectations within another role. The latter form of work-family conflict has been difficult to operationalize and as a result there is little empirical evidence for the existence of behaviour-based work-family conflict. However, for example, Carlson (1999) found that each of the forms of conflict could be reliably measured and had an unique set of antecedents, although the three dimensions of conflict correlated strongly with each other. In the meta-analysis of Allen et al. (2000), the consequences of work-family conflict (WIF) were divided into three categories: work-, nonwork-, and stress-related outcomes. A number of studies have found that increased work-family conflict is related to increased job burnout (e.g., Kinnunen & Mauno, 1998; Netemeyer, Boles & McMurrian, 1996). In the meta-analysis (Allen et al. 2000) the weighted mean correlation calculated across studies that examined job burnout was .42.

3.2 Work-family linkages: Direct or indirect effects?

In their review, Crouter et al. (2001) report that linkages between work and family life have mostly turned out to be indirect. Work stress can be linked to parents' feelings of overload and strain (e.g., Repetti, 1999), which influences in turn the parent-child relationship, e.g., less acceptance, higher conflict, and more aversion (Galambos, Sears, Almeida & Kolaric, 1995; Crouter, Bumpus, Maguire & McHale, 1999; Repetti, 1999). In turn, this process is related to less positive adjustment in the offspring. Kinnunen and Mauno (2001) found that high time demands, low control at work and job insecurity were linked to parenting behaviour through the negative job-related affect they create. Especially job exhaustion was related to child rearing stress, which in turn hindered child centrality and supervision of the child. For men this relationship was also mediated by job-related negative mood.

However, there is also evidence for direct links between parental job experiences and children's well-being (Perry-Jenkins & Gillman, 2000). In this study the role of parental well-being as a mediator between parental work experiences and child well-being did receive only little support for fathers and no support for mothers. Fathers' positive work experiences were directly related to school-aged daughters' reports of less daily hassles and less negative psychosocial well-being. Interestingly, for mothers in dual-earner families positive work-experiences were directly related to daughters' report of lower well-being, but in single-mother-families it worked as a buffer to aggressive tendencies for their sons (but not for their daughters).

3.3 Work-family linkages: Gender differences?

In a review on emotional transmissions in the daily lives of families, Larson and Almeida (1999) report that a large body of findings in the field of emotional transmission studies has focused on parents' jobs as a source of emotion in the family. Interestingly, in studies thus far, fathers' stress at the job seemed to spill over and affect other family members, but negative emotions of employed mothers do not affect other family members. Crouter et al. (1999) reported for example that fathers' work pressure predicted both parents' feelings of role overload (i.e., cross-over), whereas mothers' work pressure predicted only their own overload, not their spouses'. In addition, Repetti's diary study (1997) showed that fathers' more negative social interactions were related to fathers' and children's reports of fathers

being less responsive (i.e., social withdrawal) and to fathers' reports of being more irritable (negative spill-over effect). In contrast, mothers who experienced more negative interactions reported a higher responsiveness and also their children reported a higher responsiveness of their mothers.

Kinnunen and Mauno (2001) found that job exhaustion was a negative experience in relation to family functioning as well as to the experience of work-family conflict, in particular for men. A final example can be found in a study of Almeida, Wethington and Chandler (1999). On days when fathers experienced stressors such as work overloads or home demands, they were more than twice as likely to experience tension spillover from the marital dyad to the parent-child dyad than on stress-free days, but for mothers there was not such a connection.

3.4 Work-family linkages: The role of personality as mediator/moderator

Personality of mothers and fathers might also play an important role in work-family spill-over effects. One important aspect of personality refers to personality factors or dimensions as is evidenced in the so-called Big Five model (McCrae & Costa, 1999). In this model five personality dimensions are described: Extraversion, agreeableness, neuroticism, conscientiousness, and openness to experience.

Thus far, personality factors have not been extensively studied in the context of work-family conflict. In fact, there are only a handful of studies in which personality factors have been included although with mixed results. For example, Grandey and Cropanzano (1999) studied self-esteem as a moderating variable between four role stressors and work, family and life distress, but did not find such effects. In addition, Noor (1997) did not find any moderator role of negative affectivity when studying the relations between work and family roles and well-being among women. In the study by Aryee, Luk, Leung and Lo (1999), there existed no moderating effects of emotion- and problem-focussed coping on the relationship between work-family conflict and the well-being indicators of job, family and life satisfaction.

However, there are several studies which did find effects for personality. Carlson (1999), for example, studied the role of personality as predictor of three different forms of work-family conflict (i.e., time-, strain-, and behaviour-based conflict). The personality variables that were taken into account in this study were Type A (persons who are typically ambitious, persistent, impatient, and involved in their work) and negative affectivity (per-

sons who have a tendency to experience aversive emotional states and self-concept). These personality variables explained additional significant variance beyond situational factors (role conflict and role ambiguity at home as well as at work) as antecedents to all forms of work-family conflict. Stoeva, Chui and Greenhaus (2002) also studied the role of negative affectivity in work-family conflict. In contrast to Carlson (1999), they found only indirect links. Job stress and family stress functioned as mediators of the relationship between negative affectivity and work-to-family conflict as well as between negative affectivity and family-to-work conflict. In addition, negative affectivity had a moderating effect on the relationship between family stress and family-to-work conflict. The relationship between family stress and family-to-work conflict was stronger for individuals reporting high negative affectivity, compared to those reporting low negative affectivity.

Kinnunen, Vermulst, Gerris and Mäkikangas (2003) studied the role of personality in work-family linkages using the Big Five dimensions as variables. Personality was found to moderate the relationship between fathers' experiences of work-to-family conflicts and well-being outcomes. More precisely, emotional stability – a construct that can be regarded as the opposite of neuroticism - seemed to be a protective factor in the work-family domain. It protects one from negative effects of work-family conflict on work (job exhaustion) and on general well-being (depression). This result supports the finding of Stoeva et al. (2002). Additional support can be found in the study of Rantanen, Pulkkinen and Kinnunen (submitted for publication). They found neuroticism to function as a moderator explaining the relationship between work-to-family conflict and parental distress.

A personality trait that has been reported as an important protective factor in the family domain is agreeableness (Kinnunen et al., 2003). Agreeable fathers were protected from the negative effects of family-to-work conflict on marital satisfaction. Besides these moderating effects, both work-to-family and family-to-work conflict and emotional stability and agreeableness had main effects on well-being. In the same vein, Rantanen et al. (submitted for publication) found that conscientiousness was another protective moderator in as much as highly conscientious individuals are less likely to experience work-to-family conflict compared to those who score low on conscientiousness.

Another aspect of personality refers to personality types which can be based upon compositions of personality factors. There is empirical evidence to construct a personality typological categorization of subjects based on their individual scores on separate Big Five dimensions. On the basis of the Big Five factor scores subjects can be categorized as resilient, overcontrolled or undercontrolled types (Asendorpf, Borkeman, Ostendorf & van

Aken, 2001; Robins, John, Caspi, Moffitt & Stouthamer-Loeber, 1996). It would be interesting to study the role of personality types in work-family linkages in future research.

3.5 Marital relationships and work-family linkages

The quality of partner relationships is often considered to be an important outcome variable in research on work-family relations. It is also possible to conceive marital quality as moderating effects of work overload on the parental knowledge and monitoring of their child (Bumpus et al., 1999). Milkie and Peltola (1999) found that those who experienced marital happiness experience more success in balancing family and work.

Coverman (1989) presented data showing that higher work-family conflict was related to lower marital satisfaction for men but not for women, whereas two studies revealed significant relationships for women but not for men (Kinnunen & Mauno, 1998; Matthews, Conger & Wickrama, 1996). Crouter et al. (2001) reported that husbands who make long hours at work (> 60 hours per week) spend less time in shared activities with their wives than those who investigate less in work-related activities. However, husbands' long working hours seemed to have little consequences to partners' subjective evaluations of their marital relationships. Contrary, husbands' role overload affected marital quality negatively (e.g. partners felt less loved, more conflict). It thus seems that husbands' subjective feelings of role overload are a better predictor of marital quality than the number of hours being at work. A recent diary study (Doumas, Margolin & John, 2003) reported spillover (for men and women) and crossover (only for women) from individual experiences to marital interaction the same day and from marital interaction to individual experiences the next day. Wives seemed thus to be more reactive. Interference by time (more positive marital interaction on days when one worked less and felt more energetic, more working for women on days after husbands' negative marital interaction) and energy proved to be important, but in contrast with earlier research, less support was provided for the importance of stress as an interference process.

However, there are also studies where work-family conflict was not related to marital satisfaction, for example, this was the case among teachers in the study by Netemeyer and his colleagues (1996). Nevertheless, the weighted mean correlation of work-family conflict for marital satisfaction found across studies was -.23 in the meta-analysis of Allen et al. (2000).

3.6 Work-family linkages and coping: Individual strategies and supportive structures

Although there exist quite a few studies on the work-family interface and its effects, particular with respect to the impact of work-family conflict, there is astonishingly little research addressing the issue of coping with stresses stemming from family-work incompatibilities on the individual, couple, family or work level. One short-term coping strategy that seems to be widely used after stressful workdays is social withdrawal. Repetti and Wood (1997), for example, found that working mothers were less available for their preschool children when they had experienced work-overload or interpersonal stress in their job. Similarly, in a study focusing on interaction in marital relationships it turned out that stress at work led to social withdrawal and reduced amounts of marital interaction (Repetti, 1989).

Bodenmann (2000) who developed an instrument to assess dyadic coping in couples found that working wives exhibited more emotion-focused and supportive dyadic coping if they worked longer. On the contrary, husbands tended to show less topic-related, emotion-focused and supportive dyadic coping if they had a higher work-load. For an explanation of this gender discrepancy Bodenmann refers to the work of Whiffen and Gotlib (1989) as well as Greil, Leitko and Porter (1988) who found that wives and, even more so, working wives feel more responsible for their husbands' inconveniences which they tend to attribute to themselves. While according to Bodenmann's (2000) study couple support in the face of work-induced stress resulted in differential gender effects there is some evidence that, in general, social support eases the stress stemming from competing work und family roles (Rwampororo, 2001; Perrone & Worthington, 2001).

Concerning long-term personal strategies to cope with work-family incompatibilities, Hall (1972) derived three types of coping behaviour from a role theory approach, i.e., structural role redefinition (e.g., eliminating or negotiating a reduction of real activities), personal role redefinition (e.g., altering one's own standards of role performance), and reactive role behaviour (e.g., adjusting to the role demands by more efficient time management). In a similar vein, Becker and Moen (1999) found that their sample of dual-earner couples used a series of coping strategies that can be subsumed under three broad categories, i.e., placing limits (e.g., limiting work hours or refusing overtime work), distinguishing between "job" and "career" (e.g., one spouse is scaling back his or her career aspirations), and trading off (e.g., long-term change of the spouses' involvement in a career or job track).

Similar to an earlier study by Wiersma (1994) which uncovered a number of strategies to manage work-family conflict such as setting priorities, reframing adversities or mutual help, Haddock, Zimmerman, Ziemba and Current (2001) approached the issue of coping with the multiple challenges of more or less compatible work-family activities from a different point of view. Based on a strengths and resources paradigm as it is suggested by proponents of the "positive psychology" movement (e.g., Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000), these authors conducted an interview study asking well-functioning dual-earner couples with children what kind of strategies they use to successfully manage their family and work responsibilities. First, Haddock et al. (2001) noted that, contrary to negative media images and social dynamics that are insensitive to the lives of dual-earner families, many of them are largely healthy and thriving. Moreover, these authors found that successful dual-earner families structure their lives around the following ten major strategies: valuing family, striving for partnership, deriving meaning from work, maintaining work boundaries, focusing and producing at work, taking pride in dual earning, prioritizing family fun, living simply, making decisions proactively, and valuing time.

The results of the Haddock et al. (2001) study make a strong point that, in principle, dual-earner families have or can acquire the competences necessary to cope with the challenges of balancing work and family life in a proactive and self-directed way – a point of view that has been advocated since some time by authors who are active in the field of work-life balance coaching (e.g., Covey, 1989; Seiwert, 2001). Notwithstanding the benefits of a positive and proactive attitude (and engendering behaviours) towards the challenges of life it goes without saying that supportive structures outside the family realm can also contribute a lot to ease the stress and strain that dual-earner families are often confronted with.

Although a more detailed report on research covering the impact of supportive structures on the lives of dual-earner families is beyond the focus of this report, two major supportive systems will be briefly mentioned.

Non-parental childcare. One of the most important support systems that working parents can fall back on besides intra-familial support (e.g., grandparents' help) is institutionalized non-parental childcare. Provided that it is cost-effective and high in quality, non-parental childcare has been shown to reduce parental stress and also foster the cognitive and socio-emotional development of working parents' children (see Clarke-Stewart & Allhusen, 2002, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Early Child Care Research Network, 2003, for reviews). Thus, informal and self-organized as well as institu-

tionalized non-parental childcare that meets the needs of working parents and at the same time provides high quality care for their children is highly warranted.

Family-friendly work places. The second supportive structure that helps to ease work-family incompatibilities refers to family-friendly work places. The provision of part-time jobs (particularly for mothers) and flexible work schedules are only two items of a longer list of family-friendly measures that enable working parents to better integrate their work and family roles (Crouter & McHale, 1993; MacDermid & Targ, 1995). However, it should also be noticed that specific intra-familial conditions such as low family-to-work conflict enhance working parents' readiness to use organizational work-family benefits while this seems not to be the case when work-to family conflict is high (Frone & Yardley, 1996). Notwithstanding the subtleties of work-family relations just mentioned, there is some research evidence that, in general, implementing family-friendly measures turned out to be a win-win situation for both employees and companies because, besides the positive effects for working parents, the higher job dedication and productivity of employed parents pay off for companies subscribing to family-oriented policies (Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend in Zusammenarbeit mit der Europäischen Union, 2003; Kramer, Burian, Gerbracht & Hegner, 1998).

4. Theoretical and methodological developments

This section is devoted to some remarks concerning recent theoretical and methodological developments in the field of family research covering the topics of division of domestic labour and work-family relations. In particular, the following paragraphs will focus on a brief account of integrative conceptual models. In addition, some innovative assessment tools and data analytic strategies will be briefly described.

4.1 Theoretical developments: The quest for comprehensive models

In two decade reviews of the 1990s, one focusing on the social embedding of household labour (Coltrane, 2000) and the other on the linkages between the family and work domain (Perry-Jenkins, Repetti & Crouter, 2000), the authors drew on several approaches to structure the corresponding body of research. While Coltrane (2000) enumerated a variety of different theoretical developments in the study of household labour such as gender con-

struction, economic and exchange theories, morality theories, psychological and socialization theories, Perry-Jenkins et al. (2000) preferred to locate research within different research traditions, e.g., the maternal employment tradition, the workplace as context for socialization tradition, the impact of occupational stress on families tradition.

Interestingly, both reviews show almost no overlap concerning theoretical and empirical approaches in studying the domestic labour and the work-family domain. Although there are a few studies devoted to the relation of workload and the division of domestic labour as pointed out in section 2 of this report, this can be taken as a clue to what extent selective fragmentation of research can lead to a restricted view of the phenomena under study. In the meantime, several authors have called for a more integrative approach which allows to study the dynamic interrelatedness of proximal and distal variables that, on the one hand, directly or indirectly influence personal, couple and family systems and, on the other hand, are being influenced by those contributing to the processes occurring within and between family and work settings.

A first step in this direction took Grzywacz and Marks (2000) who provided a conceptually meaningful clarification of work-family linkages resulting in different kinds of positive and negative spillover effects between the work and family domain (i.e., work-family conflict, work-family facilitation, family-work conflict and family-work facilitation). A recent empirical test of this model revealed that particularly family-to-work facilitation serves as a protective factor to buffer deleterious effects of work-to-family conflict (Grzywacz & Bass, 2003). In addition, upon preliminary work using this model it has been suggested that the facilitation dimension is related to a different pattern of antecedents than the conflict dimension which holds particularly for the family-to-work facilitation component (Frone, 2003). This might be another clue to use a more integrated approach concerning the interplay and mutual impact of experiences related to paid work and domestic labour (Schneewind, Kupsch & Dillitzer, in press).

One step further, systemic-contextual models comprising antecedent, concomitant and outcome variables along Bronfenbrenner's (1989) process-person-context model or, in its dynamic version, process-person-context-time model (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 1998) need to be constructed. Comprehensive models based on eco-systemic theoretical propositions would require considering cultural variables, extra- and intra-familial opportunity structures along with personal and relationship resources to explain the processes of balancing work and family demands with respect to specific outcomes on the personal, couple, family and work level. One such conceptual framework has been specified and opera-

tionalized by the present writers who are members of a multinational research consortium supported by the European Commission. The FamWork Research Consortium is presently conducting a coordinated study on the conflicts and synergy in family life and professional work in seven European countries (see FamWork Research Consortium, 2001, and the Consortium's website www.eu-project-famwork.org for more details). It is expected that this study will provide a broader and more comprehensive as well as differentiated picture of how and to what effects working parents with young children deal with the multiple demands of work and family life. Ultimately, it is expected that the results of this study will contribute to a better understanding of the initiatives needed to promote work-family balance in young dual-earner families.

4.2 Methodological developments: New assessment tools and data-analytic strategies

Recent methodological developments in the field of work-family relations refer to utilizing innovative assessment tools and to applying more complex and sophisticated strategies of data analysis. In the following both will be briefly addressed.

New assessment technologies. Besides traditional assessment technologies such as qualitative interviews, self-report questionnaires and, to a lesser extent, observational techniques a relatively new assessment approach has been added to the research tools in the family-work domain. In particular, if it comes to the study of short-term processes relating to contextualized experiences (e.g., the assessment of work-to-family and family-to-work spillover) a more fine-grained assessment methodology is needed. For this purpose self-monitoring and diary approaches proved to be helpful devices for sampling experiences in situ (Hormuth, 1986). This is one of the reasons why, in addition to traditional self-report measures, a computer-based self-monitoring approach which has been developed by Perrez and his co-workers is being used in the FamWork project just described (for details of this methodology see Perrez & Horner, 1997; Perrez & Reicherts, 1996; Perrez, Berger & Wilhelm, 1998; Perrez, Schöbi & Wilhelm, 2000).

Recent research further underlines advantages of self-monitoring and diary approaches by detecting systematic biases in traditional approaches (e.g., Stone et al., 2000). Bolger, Davis and Rafaeli (2003) point out that aggregated measures usually do not account for differences in variability between persons that may be important to the topic in question (e.g., feelings or context-specific cognitions). Diary data of individuals with sufficient entries allow to address questions not only about between-person differences of state

variables but also between-person differences in the variability of such measures. Moreover, the usefulness of self-monitoring methodology has been demonstrated in research studying time-sequences related to topics like circadian or diurnal rhythms, whereas for the examination of within-person processes, between-person processes and the combined analysis of both, diary approaches turned out to be the method of choice. Bolger et al. (2003) conclude that "[...]diary designs are superior to traditional designs in examining processes because they allow investigators to examine the temporal sequencing of events and to control for third variables by using participants as their own control" (p. 587).

The technological implementation of self-monitoring methods has been further developed in recent years as the use of computer-based tools in research is stimulated by the advanced technological development, resulting in more powerful and user-friendly devices such as palm-held computers. A comparative study by Stone et al. (2002) emphasizes the advantages of computer-based tools over paper diaries.

New data-analytic strategies. In addition to new developments in the area of assessment technologies, progress has also been made concerning more sophisticated data-analytic procedures. For example, path analytic and structural equation models are being used more and more often to test specific theory-driven hypotheses referring to family-work linkages (e.g., Crouter et al., 1999; Paulson, 1996). Furthermore, the use of moderator and mediator analyses (Baron & Kenny, 1986) has become a prominent data-analytic strategy to test for the relevance of interaction effects and the effectiveness of intervening processes as, for example, has been described in section 3 of this report.

More recently, for several reasons, hierarchical linear modeling (HLM) has become an important data analytic strategy, especially with respect to the analysis of relationship data (Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002). First, HLM is an extremely flexible methodological strategy to conduct multi-level analyses. Thus, in the field of work-family balance where most of the data refer to individual-based observations, it is important to decompose the total variance of individual-based observations (e.g., reports on marital quality or parenting behaviours) into components that can be attributed to person, couple or family effects. For example, in a recent study Gareis, Barnett and Brennan (2003) have successfully used HLM methodology in a within-couple analysis of dual-career couples which allowed them to separate individual and crossover effects of work schedule fit. It should also be mentioned that HLM can easily be extended to include the relative contribution of cultural variables such as familism or modernism (see section 1 of this report) in a multi-level analysis of work-family linkages.

Second, HML can be used as a methodological strategy in the analysis of growth curves as has been demonstrated, for example, in studies modeling psychological change within couples (e.g., Raudenbush, Brennan & Barnett, 1995; Karney & Bradbury, 1997) and, more specifically, in modeling changes in job conditions and concomitant changes in psychological distress in dual-earner couples (Barnett & Brennan, 1997). In addition, growth curve analysis based on HML can be readily applied to self-monitoring data that have been simultaneously assessed in specific relationship systems such as dual-earner couples.

Finally, beyond data-analytic strategies based on multivariate linear models, research in the work-family domain lends itself easily to configural or typological strategies of data analysis as it is quite common in the realm of personality research or in studying patterns of perceived environments (e.g., Asendorpf et al., 2001; Moos & Moos, 1986). Although corresponding data-analytic tools such as cluster analysis or configural frequency analysis are readily available these methodologies are conspicuously underrepresented in work-family research. Thus, exploring, for example, interrelations of patterns of work and family life and even more so developmental change of such interrelated family-work patterns within a longitudinal design would be an important new addition to the burgeoning field of work-family research.

5. Conclusions

The present state-of-the-art report focused on research pertaining to the multiple facets of work and family linkages including the division of domestic labour. Starting from a more general perspective of societal changes in Western countries encompassing mothers' increased participation in the labor force and cultural as well as gender-related changes, relevant research on the division and evaluation of domestic labour has been reviewed. In addition, research in the closely related area of work-family linkages has been presented with a special emphasis on gender, personality, couple relationships, coping and support systems. Finally, recent theoretical and methodological developments have been addressed which led to the conclusion that integrative conceptual models along with innovative assessment tools and corresponding data-analytic strategies are highly warranted for further research. It is expected that new research-based insights in the complex interplay of the

work and family domain will pave the way to designing appropriate measures that might help working parents to optimize the balance of their work and family life.

References

- Acock, A. & Demo, D. H. (1994). <u>Family diversity and well-being</u>. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Allen, T., Herts, D., Bruck, C. & Sutton, M. (2000). Consequences associated with work-to-family conflict: A review and agenda for future research. <u>Journal of Occupational Health Psychology</u>, 5, 278 –308.
- Almeida, D. M., Wethington, E. & Chandler, A. L. (1999). Daily transmission of tensions between marital dyads and parent-child dyads. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 61, 49-61.
- Alvarez, B. & Miles, D. (2003). Gender effect on housework allocation: Evidence from Spanish two-earner couples. Journal of Population Economics, 16, 227-242.
- Apparala, M., Reifman, A. & Munsch, J. (2003). Cross-national comparison of attitudes toward fathers' and mothers' participation in household tasks and childcare. <u>Sex Roles</u>, 48, 189-203.
- Arrighi, B. A. & Maume, D. J. (2000). Workplace subordination and men's avoidance of housework. <u>Journal of Family Issues</u>, 21, 464-487.
- Aryee, S., Luk, V., Leung, A. & Lo, S. (1999). Role stressors, interrole conflict, and well-being: The moderating influence of spousal support and coping behaviors among employed parents in Hong Kong. Journal of Vocational Behavior, 54,259 –278.
- Asendorpf, J. B., Borkenau, P., Ostendorf, F. & van Aken, M. A. G. (2001). Carving personality description at its joints: Confirmation of three replicable personality prototypes for both children and adults. <u>European Journal of Personality</u>, 15, 169-198.
- Barnett, R. C. & Brennan, R. T. (1997). Change in job condition, change in psychological distress, and gender: A longitudinal study of dual-earner couples. <u>Journal of Organizational Behavior</u>, 18, 253-274.
- Baron, R. M. & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research. Conceptual, strategic and statistical considerations. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 51, 1173-1182.

- Batalova, J. A. & Cohen, P. N. (2002). Premarital cohabitation and housework: Couples in cross-national perspective. <u>Journal of Marriage and Family</u>, 64, 743-755.
- Baxter, J. (2000). The Joys and Justice of Housework. Sociology, 34, 609-631.
- Becker, P. E. & Moen, P. (1999). Scaling back: Dual-earner couples' work-family strategies.

 Journal of Marriage and the Family, 61, 995-1007.
- Benin, M. H. & Agostinelli, J. (1988). Husbands' and wives' satisfaction with the division of labor. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 50, 349-361.
- Bianchi, S. M., Milkie, M. A., Sayer, L. C. & Robinson, J. P. (2000). Is anyone doing the housework? Trends in the gender division of household labor. <u>Social Forces</u>, 79, 191-228.
- Blair, S. L. (1993). Employment, family, and perceptions of marital quality among husbands and wives. Journal of Family Issues, 14, 189-212.
- Blair, S. L. & Johnson, M. P. (1992). Wives' perceptions of the fairness of the division of household labor: The intersection of housework and ideology. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 54, 570-581.
- Blair, S. L. & Lichter, D. T. (1991). Measuring the division of household labor: Gender segregation of housework among American couples. <u>Journal of Family Issues</u>, 12, 91-113.
- Bodenmann, G. (2000). Stress und Coping bei Paaren. Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Bolger, N., Davis, A. & Rafaeli, E. (2003). Diary methods: Capturing life as it is lived. <u>Annual Review of Psychology</u>, 54, 579-616.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1989). Ecological systems theory. In R. Vasta (Ed.), <u>Annals of child development</u>. Six theories of child development: Revised formulations and current <u>issues</u> (pp. 187-249). London: JAI Press.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. & Morris, P.A. (1998). The ecology of developmental processes. In W. Damon (ser. ed.), R.M. Lerner (vol. ed.), <u>Handbook of child psychology</u>, <u>Vol. 1:</u> Theoretical models of human development (pp. 993-1028). New York: Wiley.

- Brooks-Gunn, J., Han, W.-J. & Waldfogel, J. (2002). Maternal employment and child cognitive outcomes in the first three years of life: the NICHD study of early child care. Child Development, 73, 1052-1072.
- Brown, D. (2002). The role of work and cultural values in occupational choice, satisfaction, and success: A theoretical statement. <u>Journal of Counselling and Development</u>, 80, 48-55.
- Brüderl, L. & Paetzold, B. (Hrsg.) (1992). <u>Frauenleben zwischen Beruf und Familie</u>. Weinheim/München: Juventa Verlag.
- Buber, I. (2002). The influence of the distribution of household and childrearing tasks between men and women on childbearing intentions in Austria (Working Paper 2002-004). Rostock: Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research.
- Bumpus, M. F., Crouter, A. C. & McHale, S. M. (1999). Work demands of dual earner couples: Implications for parents' knowledge about children's daily lives in middle childhood. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 61, 465-475.
- Bundesministerium für Familie, Seniore, Frauen und Jugend in Zusammenarbeit mit der Europäischen Union (Hrsg.) (2003) <u>Betriebswirtschaftliche Effekte familienfreundlicher</u> Maßnahmen. Berlin: DruckVogt.
- Buunk, B. P., Kluwer, E. S., Schuurman, M. K. & Siero, F. W. (2000). The division of labor among egalitarian and traditional women: Differences in discontent, social comparison, and false consensus. <u>Journal of Applied Social Psychology</u>, 30, 759-779.
- Caillé, P. (2003). Etre parent aujourd'hui: performance d'un rôle ou vécu d'un état. Dilemmes et contradictions de la position parentale contemporaine. <u>Neuropsychiatrie de l'Enfance et de l'Adolescence</u>, 51, 137-144.
- Cancian, F. M. & Oliker, S. J. (2000). <u>Caring and gender</u>. Pine Gorge Press.
- Carlson, D. S. (1999). Personality and role variables as predictors of three forms of workfamily conflict. <u>Journal of Vocational Behaviour</u>, 55, 236-253.
- Clarke-Stewart, K. A. & Allhusen, V. D. (2002). Nonparental caregiven. In M. H. Bornstein (Ed.), <u>Handbook of parenting</u> (2nd ed, vol. 3, pp 215-252). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

- Coltrane, S. (2000). Research on household labor: Modeling and measuring the social embeddedness of routine family work. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 62, 1208-1233.
- Coltrane, S. & Ishii-Kuntz, M. (1992). Men's housework: A life course perspective. <u>Journal of Marriage</u> and the Family, 54, 43-57.
- Coverman, S. (1989). Role overload, role conflict, and stress: Addressing consequences of multiple role demands. <u>Social Forces</u>, 67, 965 –982.
- Crouter, A. & McHale, S. M. (1993). Temporal rhythms in family life: Seasonal variation in the relation between parental work and family processes. <u>Developmental Psychology</u>, 29, 198-205.
- Crouter, A., Bumpus, M., Head, M. & McHale, S. (2001). Implications of overwork and overload for the quality of men's family relationships. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 63, 404-416.
- Crouter, A., Bumpus, M., Maguire, M. & McHale, S. (1999). Linking parents' work pressure and adolescents' well-being: insights into dynamics in dual-earner families. <u>Developmental Psychology</u>, 35, 1453-1461.
- Covey, S. R. (1989). <u>The seven habits of highly effective people</u>. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Cunningham, M. (2001). The influence of parental attitudes and behaviors on children's attitudes toward gender and household labor in early adulthood. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 63, 111-122.
- Davies, L. & Carrier, P. J. (1999). The importance of power relations for the division of household labour. <u>Canadian Journal of Sociology</u>, 24, 35-51.
- de Singly, F. (2000a). <u>Le Soi, le couple et la famille. La famille, un lieu essentiel de reconnaissance et de valorisation de l'identité personnelle</u> (2^{ème} édition). Paris: Nathan.
- de Singly, F. (2000b). <u>Libres ensemble</u>. <u>L'individualisme dans la vie commune</u>. Paris: Nathan.
- DeMaris, A. & Longmore, M. A. (1996). Ideology, power and equity: Testing competing ex-

- planations for the perception of fairness in household labor. <u>Social Forces</u>, 74, 1043-1071.
- Demo, D. H. & Acock, A. C. (1993). Family diversity and the division of domestic labor: How much have things really changed? Family Relations, 42, 323-331.
- DeStefano, L. & Colastano, D. (1990). The gender gap in America: Unlike 1973, today most Americans think men have it better. Gallup Poll News Service, 54, 1-7.
- Doumas, D. M., Margolin, G. & John, R. S. (2003). The relationship between daily marital interaction, work, and health-promoting behaviors in dual-earner couples: An extension of the work-family spillover model. Journal of Family Issues, 24, 3-20.
- Europäische Kommission (Hrsg.) (2000). <u>Beschreibung der sozialen Lage in Europa 2000</u>. Luxemburg: Eurostat.
- Famwork Research Consortium (2001). <u>Family life and professional work: Conflict and synergy</u>. Unpublished research proposal submitted to the European Commission (see also the Research Consortium's website <u>www.eu-project-famwork.org</u>).
- Feldman, R., Masalha, S. & Nadam, R. (2001). Cultural perspectives on work and family: Dual earner Isreali-Jewish and Arab families at the transition to parenthood. <u>Journal of Family Psychology</u>, 15, 492-509.
- Fize, M. (1991). La démocratie familiale. Paris: De La Renaissance.
- Fontaine, A. M. & Matias, M. (2003). Familismo e individualismo em jovens adultos: construção de um instrumento e estudos exploratórios. Revista Galego-Portuguesa de Psicoloxia e Educación, 10, 2348-2362.
- Franco, A. & Winquist, K. (2002). <u>Frauen und Männer, die Arbeit und Familie vereinbaren</u> (Report No. 9/2002). Luxembourg: Eurostat.
- Freudenthaler, H. H. & Mikula, G. (1998). From unfulfilled wants to the experience of injustice: Womens's sense of injustice regarding the lopsided division of household labor.

 <u>Social Justice Research</u>, 11, 289-312.
- Frone, M. R. (2000). Work-family conflict and employee psychiatric disorders: The national comorbidity survery. <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, 85, 888-895.

- Frone, M. R. (2003). Work-family balance. In J. C. Quick & L. E. Tetrick (Eds.), <u>Handbook of occupational health psychology</u> (pp. 143-162). Washintong, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Frone, M. R. & Yardley, J. K. (1996). Workplace family-supportive programmes: Predictors of employed parents' importance rating. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, 69, 351-366.
- Frone, M. R., Russell, M. & Cooper, M. L. (1992a). Antecedents and outcomes of work-family conflict: Testing a model of the work-family interface. <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, 77, 65-78.
- Frone, M. R., Russell, M. & Cooper, M. L. (1992b). Prevalence of family-work conflict: Are work and family boundaries asymmetrically permeable? <u>Journal of Organizational Behavior</u>, 13, 723-729.
- Galambos, N., Sears, H., Almeida, D. & Koleric, G. (1995). Parents' work overload and problem behaviour in young adolescents. <u>Journal of Research on Adolescence</u>, 5, 201-223.
- Gareis, K. C., Barnett, R. C. & Brennan, R. T. (2003). Individual and crossover effects of work schedule fit: A within-couple analysis. <u>Journal of Marriage and Family</u>, 65, 1041-1054.
- Giddens, A. (1992). The transformation of intimacy. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Grandey, A. A. & Cropanzano, R. (1999). The conservation of resources model applied to work-family conflict and strain. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, 54, 350 –370.
- Greenhaus, J. H. & Beutell, N. J. (1985). Sources of conflict between work and family roles.

 <u>Academy of Management Review, 10,</u> 76-88.
- Greenstein, T. N. (1996a). Gender ideology and perceptions of the fairness of the division of household labor: Effects on marital quality. <u>Social Forces</u>, 74, 1029-1042.
- Greenstein, T. N. (1996b). Husbands participation in domestic labor: Interactive effects of wives' and husbands' gender ideology. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 58, 585-595.
- Greis, A. L., Leitko, T. A. & Porter, K. L. (1988). Infertility: His and hers. Gender and Society, 2, 172-199.

- Gryzwacz, J. G. & Bass, B. L. (2003). Work, family, and mental health: Testing different models of work-family fit. <u>Journal of Marriage and Family</u>, 65, 248-262.
- Grzywacz, J. G. & Marks, N. F. (2000). Reconceptualizing the work-family interface: An ecological perspective on the correlates of positive and negative spillover between work and family. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 5, 111-126.
- Gutek, B. A. Searle, S. & Klepa, L. (1991). Rational versus gender role explanations for work-family conflict. <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, 76, 560-568.
- Hall, D. T. (1972). A model of coping with role conflict: The role behaviour of college educated women. <u>Administrative Science Quarterly</u>, 17, 471-486.
- Haddock, S. A., Zimmerman, T. S. Ziemba, S. J & Current, L. R. (2001). Ten adaptive strategies for family and work balance: Advice from successful families. <u>Journal of Marital and Family Therapy</u>, 27, 445-458.
- Hawkins, A. J., Marshall, C. M. & Meiners, K. M. (1995). Exploring wives' sense of fairness about family work: An initial test of the distributive justice framework. <u>Journal of Family Issues</u>, 16, 693-721.
- Helms-Erikson, H. (2001). Marital quality ten years after the transition to parenthood: Implications of the timing of parenthood and the division of housework. <u>Journal of Marriage and Family</u>, 63, 1099-1110.
- Hormuth, S. E. (1986). The sampling of experiences in situ. <u>Journal of Personality</u>, <u>54</u>, 262-293.
- Jackson, S. (1997) Women, marriage and family relationships. In V. Robinson & D. Richardson (Eds.), <u>Introducing women's studies</u> (2nd ed.). Palgrave.
- Jacobs, T., De Maeyer, S. & Beck, M. (1999). Family formation and the divisions of labour in Belgian couple households. Quality & Quantity, 33, 291-303.
- John, D., Shelton, B. A., & Luschen, K. (1995). Race, ethnicity, gender, and perception of fairness. <u>Journal of Family Issues</u>, 16, 357-379.
- Karney, B. R. & Bradbury, T. N. (1997). Neuroticism, marital interaction, and the trajectory of marital satisfaction. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 72, 1075-1092.

- Kentges-Kirschbaum, C. & Petzold, M. (1995). Organisation des Alltags in Familien mit kleinen Kindern. System Familie, 8, 130-145.
- Kinnunen, U. & Mauno, S. (2001). Dual-earner families in Finland: Differences between and within families in relation to work and family experiences. <u>Community, Work & Family</u>, 4, 1.
- Kinnunen, U., Vermulst, A., Gerris, J. & Mäkikangas, A. (2003). Work-family conflict and its relations to well-being: The role of personality as a moderating factor. <u>Personality and Individual Differences</u>, 35, 1669-1683.
- Kinnunen, U. & Mauno, S. (1998). Antecedents and outcomes of work-family conflict among employed women and men in Finland. <u>Human Relations</u>, 51, 157 –177.
- Kirchler, E. & Venus, M. (2000). Zwischen Beruf und Familie: Gerechtigkeit und Zufriedenheit mit der Aufteilung der Arbeit zu Hause. Zeitschrift für Sozialpsychologie, 31, 113-123.
- Kluwer, E. S. & Mikula, G. (2002). Gender-related inequalities in the division of family work in close relationships: A social psychological perspective. <u>European Review of Social Psychology</u>, 13, 185-216.
- Kramer, U., Burian, K., Gerbracht, P. & Hegner, F. (1998). <u>Wettbewerbsstärke und bessere</u>

 Vereinbarkeit von Familie und Beruf kein Widerspruch. Stuttgart: Kohlhammer.
- Kulik, L. & Rayyan, F. (2003). Wage-earning patterns, perceived division of domestic labor, and social support: A comparative analysis of educated Jewish and Arab-Muslim Israelis. Sex Roles, 48, 53-66.
- Larson, R. & Almeida, D. (1999). Emotional transmission in the daily lives of families: a new paradigm for studying family processes. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 61, 5-20.
- Lavee, Y. & Katz, R. (2002). Division of labor, percieved fairness and marital quality: The effect of gender ideology. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 64, 27-39.
- Layte, R. (1998). Gendered equity? Comparing explanations of women's satisfaction with the domestic division of labour. Work, Employment & Society, 12, 511-532.
- Lennon, M. C. & Rosenfield, S. (1994). Relative fairness and the division of housework: The

- importance of options. American Journal of Sociology, 100, 506-531.
- MacDermid, S. M. & Targ, D. B. (1995). A call for greater attention to the role of employers in developing, transforming, and implementing family policies. <u>Journal of Family and</u> Economic Issues, 16,145-167.
- Major, B. (1987). Gender, justice, and the psychology of entitlement. <u>Review of Personality</u> and Social Psychology, 7, 124-148.
- Marks, S. R. & MacDermid, S. M. (1996). Multiple roles and the self: A theory of role balance. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 58, 417-435.
- Major, B. (1993). Gender, entitlement and the distribution of family labor. <u>Journal of Social</u> <u>Issues, 49</u>, 141-159.
- Matthews, L. S., Conger, R. D. & Wickrama, K. A. S. (1996). Work-family conflict and marital quality: Mediating processes. Social Psychology Quarterly, 59, 62 –79.
- McCrea, R. R. & Costa, P. T. (1999). A five-factor theory of personality. In L. A. Pervin & O. P. John (Eds.). <u>Handbook of personality. Theory and research</u> (2nd ed., pp. 139-153). New York: Guilford.
- Mederer, H. J. (1993). Division of labor in two-earner homes: Task accomplishment versus household management as critical variables in perceptions about family work. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 55, 133-145.
- Mikula, G. (1998). Division of household labor and perceived justice: A growing field of research. Social Justice Research, 11, 215-241.
- Mikula, G. & Freudenthaler, H. H. (1999). Aufteilung von Familienarbeit als Gegenstand von Ungerechtigkeitswahrnehmungen und sozialen Konflikten: zur Bedeutung sozialer Vergleiche. In B. Lutz (Hrsg.), Kompendium der Familienforschung in Österreich 1999 (S. 37-60). Wien: Österreichisches Institut für Familienforschung.
- Mikula, G. & Freudenthaler, H. H. (2002). Division of tasks and duties and the perception of injustice: The case of household chores. <u>Psychologische Beiträge</u>, 44, 567-584.
- Mikula, G., Freudenthaler, H. H., Brennacher-Kröll, S. & Brunschko, B. (1997). Division of labor in student households: Gender inequality, perceived justice and satisfaction. <u>Ba-</u>

- sic and Applied Social Psychology, 275-289.
- Mikula, G., Freudenthaler, H. H., Hörtner, G. & Foufas, C. (2001). <u>Soziale Vergleiche und Gerechtigkeitsbeurteilungen der Aufteilung der Haushaltsarbeit zwischen Partnern.</u>

 Paper presented at the 8th conference of the Fachgruppe Sozialpsychologie, Würzburg.
- Mikula, G., Freudenthaler, H. H., Schröpfer, S. & Schmelzer-Ziringer R. (1996). <u>Distribution of burdens in close relationships: Women' sense of injustice concerning unequal division of household labor</u>. Paper presented at the 8th International Conference on Personal Relationships, Banff, Canada.
- Milkie, M. A. & Peltola, P. (1999). Playing all the roles: Gender and the work-family balancing act. Journal of Marriage and Family, 61, 476-491.
- Moos, R. H. & Moos, B. S. (1986). A typology of family social environments. <u>Family Process</u>, 15, 357-371.
- Myers, S. M. & Booth, A. (2002). Forerunners in Nontraditional Gender Ideology. <u>Social Psychology Quarterly</u>, 65, 18-37.
- National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Early Child Care Research Network (2003). Does amount of time spent in child care predict socioemotional adjustment during the transition to kindergarten? Child Development, 74, 976-1005.
- Netemeyer, R. G., Boles, J. S. & McMurrian, R. (1996). Development and validation of work-family conflicts and work-family conflict scales. <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, 81, 400 –410.
- Nomaguchi, K. M. & Milkie, M. A. (2003). Costs and rewards of children: The effects of becoming a parent on adults' lives. <u>Journal of Marriage and Family</u>, 65, 356-374.
- Noor, N. M. (1997). Work and family roles in relation to women's well-being: The role of negative affectivity. <u>Personality and Individual Differences</u>, 23, 487 –499.
- Paulson, S. E. (1996). Maternal employment and adolescent achievement revisited: An ecological perspective. <u>Family Relations</u>, 45, 201-208.
- Perista, H. (2002). Género e trabalho não pago: os tempos das mulheres e os tempos dos

- homens. Análise Social, 37, 447-474.
- Perrez, M. & Horner, M. (1997). L'auto-observation du stress au niveau familial au moyen d'un ordinateur de poche. Revue Européenne de Psychologie Appliquée, 47, 149-154.
- Perrez, M. & Reicherts, M. (1996). A computer-assisted self-monitoring procedure for assessing stress-related behavior under real life conditions. In J. Fahrenberg & M. Perrez (Eds.), <u>Ambulatory assessment: Computer assisted psychological methods in monitoring and field studies</u> (pp. 51-67). Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Perrez, M., Berger, R. & Wilhelm, P. (1998). Die Erfassung von Belastungserleben und Belastungsverarbeitung in der Familie: Self-Monitoring als neuer Ansatz. <u>Psychologie in Erziehung und Unterricht</u>, 45, 19-35.
- Perrez, M. Schöbi, D. & Wilhelm, P. (2000). How to assess social regulation of stress and emotions in daily family life? A computer assisted family self-monitoring-system (FASEM-C). Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, 7, 326-339.
- Perrone, K. M. & Worrington, E. L. Jr. (2001). Factors influencing ratings of marital quality by individuals with dual-career marriages: A conceptual model. <u>Journal of Counselling Psychology</u>, 48, 3-9
- Perry-Jenkins, M. & Folk, K. (1994). Class, couples, and conflict: Effects of the division of labor on assessments of marriage in dual-earner families. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family, 56</u>, 165-180.
- Perry-Jenkins, M. & Gillman, S. (2000). Parental job experiences and children's well-being: the case of two-parent and single-mother working-class families. <u>Journal of Family and Economic Issues</u>, 21, 123-147.
- Perry-Jenkins, M., Repetti, R. L. & Crouter, A. C. (2000). Work and family in the 1990s. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 62, 981-998.
- Pina, D. L. & Bengtson, V. L. (1993). The Division of Household Labor and Wives' Happiness: Ideology, Employment, and Perceptions of Support. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 55, 901-912.
- Poeschl, G. (2002). Trabalho doméstico e poder familiar: práticas, normas e ideais. <u>Análise Social</u>, 35, 695-719.

- Pourtois, J.-P. & Desmet, H. (2000a). <u>Le parent éducateur</u>. Paris: PUF (Education et Formation).
- Pourtois, J.-P. & Desmet, H. (2000b). <u>Relation familiale et résilience</u>. Paris: L'Harmattan (Savoir et Formation).
- Pourtois, J.-P. & Desmet, H. (2002). <u>L'éducation postmoderne</u>. Paris: PUF,(Education et Formation, 3^{ème} édition).
- Pourtois, J.-P. & Desmet, H. (2003). <u>Adolescence-repères sociaux, familiaux, institutionnels.</u>

 <u>Communication</u> « Les tables-rondes du CEDORES ». Marcinelles.
- Presser, H. B. (1994). Employment schedules among dual-earner spouses and the division of household labor by gender. <u>American Sociological Review</u>, 59, 348-364.
- Raeff, C. (1997). Individuals in relationships: Cultural values, children's social interactions, and the development of an American individualistic self. <u>Developmental Review</u>, 17, 205-238.
- Raudenbush, S. W. & Bryk, A. S. (2002). <u>Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis</u>. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Raudenbush, S. W., Brennan, R. T. & Barnett, R. C. (1995). A multivariate hierarchical model for studying psychological change within married couples. <u>Journal of Family Psychology</u>, *9*, 161-174.
- Reichle, B. (1996). From is to ought and the kitchen sink: On the justice of distributions in close relationships. In L. Montada, & M. J. Lerner (Eds.), <u>Current societal concerns about justice</u> (pp. 103-135). New York: Plenum.
- Reichle, B. & Montada, L. (1994). Problems with the transition to parenthood: Perceived responsibility for restrictions and losses and the experience of injustice. In M. J. Lerner, & G. Mikula (Eds.), Entitlement and the affectional Bond: Justice in close relationships (pp. 205-228). New York: Plenum Press.
- Repetti, R. L. (1989). Effects of daily workload on subsequent behavior during marital interaction: The roles of social withdrawal and spouse support. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, <u>57</u>, 651-659.

- Repetti, R. L. (1997). The effects of daily job stress on parent behaviour with preadolescents.

 Paper presented at the biennial meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development, Washington DC, April 1997.
- Repetti, R. L. (1999). The longitudinal association between perceived job characteristics and fathers' relationship with their children. Paper presented at the biennial meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development, Albuquerque, April 1999.
- Repetti, R. L. & Wood, J. (1997). Effects of daily stress at work on mothers' interactions with preschoolers. Journal of Family Psychology, 11, 90-108.
- Robin, R. W., John, O. P., Caspi, A., Moffit, T. E. & Stouthamer-Loeber, M. (1996). Resilient, overcontrolled, and undercontrolled boys: Three replicable personality types.

 <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 70, 157-171.
- Robinson, J. P. (1988). Who's doing the housework? American Demographics, 10, 24-63.
- Robinson, J. P. & Spitze, G. (1992). Whistle while you work? The effect of household task performance on women's and men's well-being. <u>Social Science Quarterly</u>, 73, 844-859.
- Rwampororo, R. K. (2001). Social support: Its mediation of gendered patterns in work-family stress and health for dual-earner couples. <u>Dissertation Abstracts</u>. <u>International Section</u>
 A: Humanities and Social Sciences. April 2001.
- Sanchez, L. (1994). Gender, labor allocations, and the psychology of entitlement within the home. <u>Social Forces</u>, 73, 533-553.
- Schneewind, K. A., Kupsch, M. & Dillitzer, S. (im Druck). Familie und Arbeit. In D. Frey & C. Hoyos (Hrsg.), <u>Psychologie in Gesellschaft</u>, <u>Kultur und Umwelt</u>. Weinheim: Beltz.
- Schneewind, K. A., Vaskovics, L. A., Backmund, V., Buba, H., Rost, H., Sierwald, W. & Vierzigmann, G. (1992). <u>Optionen der Lebensgestaltung junger Ehen und Kinderwunsch</u>. Stuttgart: Kohlhammer.
- Schneewind, K. A., Vaskovics, L. A., Gotzler, P., Hofmann, B., Rost, H., Schlehlein, B., Sierwald, W. & Weiß, J. (1997). Optionen der Lebensgestaltung junger Ehen und Kinderwunsch. Verbundstudie Endbericht. Stuttgart: Kohlhammer.

- Schwartz, S. H. & Bilsky, W. (1987). Toward a universal psychological structure of human values. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 53, 550-562.
- Seiwert, L. J. (2001). Life-leadership. Frankfurt: Campus.
- Seligman, L. M. P. & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive psychology: An introduction. American Psychologist, 55, 5-14..
- Sennett, R. (1998). The corrosion of character. New York: Norton.
- Shelton, B. A. & John, D. (1996). The division of household labor. <u>Annual Review of Sociology</u>, 22, 299-322.
- Spitze, G. (1988). Women's employment and family relations: A review. <u>Journal of Marriage</u> and the Family, 50, 595-618.
- Stoeva, A. Z., Chui, R. K. & Greenhaus, J. H. (2002). Negative affectivity, role stress, and work-family conflict. Journal of Vocational Behaviour, 60, 1-16.
- Stone, A. A., Shiffman, S., Schwartz, J. E., Broderick, J. E. & Hufford, M. R. (2002). Patient non-compliance with paper diaries. <u>British Medical Journal</u>, 324, 1193-1194.
- Théry, I. (2001). Peut-on parler d'une crise de la famille ? Un point de vue sociologique. <u>Neuropsychiatrie</u> de l'Enfance et de l'Adolescence, 49, 492-501.
- Thompson, L. (1991). Family work: Women's sense of fairness. <u>Journal of Family Issues</u>, 12, 81-196.
- Triandis, H. McCusker, C. & Hui, C. H. (1990). Multimethod probes of individualism and collectivism. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 59, 1006-1020.
- United Nations (Ed.) (1995). <u>The world's women 1995: Trends and statistics.</u> New York: United Nations.
- Van Willigen, M. & Drentea, P. (2001). Benefits of equitable relationships: The impact of sense of fairness, household division of labor, and decision making power on perceived social support. Sex Roles, 44, 571-597.
- Vicente, A. (1998). <u>As mulheres em portugal na transição do milénio: valores, vivências, poderes nas relações sociais entre os dois sexos</u>. Lisboa: Multinova.

- Voydanoff, P. & Donnelly, B. W. (1999). The intersection of time in activities and perceived unfairness in relation to psychological distress and marital quality. <u>Journal of Marriage</u> and the Family, 61, 739-751.
- Ward, R. A. (1993). Marital happiness and household equity in later life. <u>Journal of Marriage</u> and the Family, 55, 427-438.
- Whiffen, V. E. & Gotlib, I. H. (1989). Stress and coping in martially distressed and non-distressed couples. Journal of Social and Personal Relationships, 6, 327-344.
- Wiersma, U. J. (1994). A taxonomy of behavioural strategies for coping with work-home role conflict. Human Relations, 47, 211-221.

_		\sim		
Euro	nean	('On	nmı	CCION
Luio	ocan	COL	шш	SSIUH

EUR 21268 - EU research on social sciences and humanities – Family Life and Professional Work: Conflict and Synergy (FamWork)

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities

2004 — 39 pp. — 21.0 x 29.7 cm

SALES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS

Publications for sale produced by the Office for Official Publications of the European Communities are available from our sales agents throughout the world.

How do I set about obtaining a publication?

Once you have obtained the list of sales agents, contact the sales agent of your choice and place your order.

How do I obtain the list of sales agents?

- Go to the Publications Office website http://publications.eu.int/
- Or apply for a paper copy by fax (352) 2929 42758

- The project will be carried out as a joint endeavour of a consortium of seven European research teams. The theoretical interest focuses on the explanation of the relationship between modalities of work-division and well being as a function of internal (psychological) and external (socio-material) resources. The practical purpose consists of the development of a set of instruments suitable
- To observe the external resources in order to facilitate the integration of family and professional roles, and
- to assess the relative satisfaction of couples with respect to this issue.

These tools can be applied periodically to assess the given conditions and to compare them with the need of the people concerned.